Central Bedfordshire
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands,
Shefford SG17 5TQ
please ask for
direct line
date

This meeting
may be filmed.*
Paula Everitt
0300 300 4196
6 September 2018

NOTICE OF MEETING
SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date & Time

Monday, 17 September 2018 10.00 a.m.
Venue at

Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford
Richard Carr
Chief Executive
To:
The Chairman and Members of the SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:
Cllrs P Hollick (Chairman), P Downing (Vice-Chairman), Mrs A Barker, R D Berry,
P A Duckett, K Ferguson, Mrs S A Goodchild, Mrs D B Gurney and G Perham

[Named Substitutes:
J Chatterley, Ms A M W Graham, P Smith, A M Turner and M A G Versallion]
All other Members of the Council - on request

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS
MEETING

*This meeting may be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent broadcast
online and can be viewed at
https://centralbedfordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home.
At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting will
be filmed by the Council. The footage will be on the Council’s website for six
months. A copy of it will also be retained in accordance with the Council’s data
retention policy. The images and sound recording may be used for training
purposes within the Council.
By entering the Chamber you are deemed to have consented to being filmed by the
Council, including during any representation you might make, and to the possible
use of the images and sound recordings made by the Council for webcasting
and/or training purposes.
Phones and other equipment may also be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog
from this meeting by an individual Council member or a member of the public. No
part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves
to go into exempt session. The use of images or recordings arising from this is not
under the Council’s control.

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence and notification of substitute members

2.

Minutes
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Social Care
Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 04 June 2018
and to note actions taken since that meeting.

3.

Members' Interests
To receive from Members any declarations of interest and of any political whip
in relation to any agenda item.

4.

Chairman's Announcements and Communications
To receive any announcements from the Chairman and any matters of
communication.

5.

Petitions
To receive petitions from members of the public in accordance with the Public
Participation Procedure as set out in Part 4G of the Constitution.

6.

Questions, Statements or Deputations
To receive any questions, statements or deputations from members of the
public in accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out in Part
4G of the Constitution.

7.

Call-In
To consider any decision of the Executive referred to this Committee for review
in accordance with Part 4D of the Constitution.

8.

Requested Items
To consider any items referred to the Committee at the request of a Member in
accordance with Part 4D of the Constitution.

9.

Executive Members' Update
To receive a brief verbal update from
 The Executive Member for Adults, Social Care and Housing Operations
 The Executive Member for Health and
 The Executive Member for Assets and Housing Delivery

Part A: External & NHS matters
To review and scrutinise any matters relating to the planning, provision and operation
of health services in Central Bedfordshire commissioned by the NHS or external
organisations (such as the Clinical Commissioning Group).
Reports
Item
10

Subject

Page Nos.

Update on the Non-Emergency Passenger Transport
Service Contract

*

13 - 18

*

19 - 20

To receive an update from the East of England Ambulance
Service Trust on the first six months in operation of the
non-emergency passenger transport service contract
awarded in April 2018.
11

Urgent Care Treatment Update
This paper provides a high level update on the emerging
changes to the urgent care pathway in Bedfordshire and
the impact of the new Urgent Treatment Centre
mobilisation.

Part B: Public Health, Social Care &
Housing matters
To review and scrutinise any matters that fall within the remit of the Council’s Social
Care, Health and Housing or Public Health Directorates.
Reports
Item
12

Subject

Page Nos.

Tenant Scrutiny Panel - Homelessness Report

*

21 - 38

*

39 - 64

*

65 - 70

To consider and comment on the report on Homelessness
by the Tenant Scrutiny Panel and the Council’s response.
13

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private
Sector Home Policy
To consider and comment on the draft Discharge of
Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home
Policy and provide recommendations to Executive.

14

Work Programme 2018/19 and Executive Forward Plan
The report provides Members with details of the currently
drafted Committee work programme and the latest
Executive Forward Plan.

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 2
Page 1
CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL
At a meeting of the SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk,
Shefford on Monday, 4 June 2018.
PRESENT
Cllr P Hollick (Chairman)
Cllr P Downing (Vice-Chairman)
Cllrs Mrs A Barker
P A Duckett
K Ferguson

Cllrs

Apologies for Absence:

Cllrs R D Berry
Mrs D B Gurney

Members in Attendance:

Cllrs E Ghent
Mrs C Hegley
Ms C Maudlin

B J Spurr
Mrs T Stock

Mrs S A Goodchild
G Perham

Executive Member for Assets and
Housing Delivery
Executive Member for Adults,
Social Care and Housing
Operations (HRA)
Deputy Executive Member for
Adults, Social Care, Housing
Operations (HRA) and
Volunteering
Executive Member for Health and
Chairman of the Health and
Wellbeing Board
Deputy Executive Member for
Health

Officers in Attendance:

Mr N Costin
Mrs P Everitt
Mr S Mitchelmore
Mrs J Ogley

Head of Housing Service
Scrutiny Policy Adviser
Assistant Director, Adult Social Care
Director of Social Care, Health and
Housing

Others in Attendance

Mrs E Barter

Chair West Mid Beds Locality,
Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning
Group
Chief Executive, Luton and Dunstable
University NHS Hospital Trust
Head of Communications, Bedfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer, Luton Clinical
Commissioning Group
Interim Chairman Central Bedfordshire
Healthwatch
Director of Commissioning, Bedfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group

Mr D Carter
Mrs S Frisby
Mrs N Poulain
Mr D Simpson
Mrs C Wood

SCHHPage 2

Item 2

04.06.18
Page 2

SCHH/18/91. Members' Interests
None.
SCHH/18/92. Chairman's Announcements and Communications
None.
SCHH/18/93. Petitions
None.
SCHH/18/94. Questions, Statements or Deputations
None.
SCHH/18/95. Executive Members' Update
The Executive Member for Assets advised that land at Chase Farm, Arlesey
had been sold and would be developed to provide a housing development to
include affordable housing and extra care facility and much more. The
proposed development at Houghton Regis Central had been put out to tender
and in answer to a question regarding the Council’s Development Company,
The Exec Member advised progress was being made and the experience of
other Councils with a development company had been sought.
In response to a question regarding health inequalities, the Executive Member
for Health would provide a written response.
The Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Housing Delivery referred to
pressures being experience in the Contact Centre due to the high turnover of
staff in this team. A new initiative to retain staff was planned.
SCHH/18/96. Call-In
None.
SCHH/18/97. Requested Items
None.
SCHH/18/98. Phlebotomy Outpatient Services Proposals
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Luton and Dunstable Hospital introduced a
report that set out the proposals to move the Phlebotomy Service, Sexual
Health and Dermatology Services from the Hospital to a new facility in Luton
Arndale Centre. It was considered these services would function well off site
and gave the Hospital opportunity to reorganise the vacant space available to
it. The Hospital had listened to complaints from patients about the lack of
parking and long waiting times. At the new site, it was possible to book an

SCHHPage 3

Item 2

04.06.18
Page 3

appointment as well as provide a walk-in service. Members discussed the
following in summary: If there was an opportunity to extend current phlebotomy clinic times in
order to accommodate residents that commute, the CEO advised he would
look into the feasibility of this request.
 Concern that not all GPs provided a phlebotomy service and in turn this
would cause some residents to travel to Luton from rural areas in Central
Bedfordshire. In response, the Director of Commissioning, BCCG, advised
the long-term vision was to see GPs providing phlebotomy service in a
locality hub setting. In the interim, more surgeries were working together to
provide a service locally.
 In response to residents’ potential fear for personal safety in the Luton
Arndale area, the CEO advised he would raise this concern with Luton
Council and monitor the situation closely.
RECOMMENDED the Committee:1. Reminds health providers that the Scrutiny Committee has a role to play in
the initial stage of any proposed changes to health services in their local
area.
2. Understands the need to have a better environment to discharge the
services and improve them.
3. Expects the provider, when making changes to the provision of services, to
take full account of the needs of Central Bedfordshire residents, including
transport concerns and increased journey times, especially for those living
to the west and north west of Dunstable.
4. Suggests the need to monitor opening times for the phlebotomy service and
consider earlier morning, late afternoon and early evening appointments.
5. While recognising the role of GP's in the health service, suggests that,
either alone or in partnership, providing a phlebotomy service should be
seen as an essential part of a primary health service
Requests an update for the 28 January 2019 meeting of the Scrutiny
Committee.
SCHH/18/99. Proposals for Urgent Care Provision in Bedfordshire
The Director of Commissioning, BCCG, introduced a report that outlined the
proposals for an Urgent Treatment Centre based on the Bedford Hospital
South Wing site in line with NHS England’s Five Year Forward View. The
Service would be provided by a GP-led service and would be available 12
hours a day. Appointments would be available through the 111 service and a
walk-in service would also be in operation with a maximum wait of 4 hours.
Modifications to the urgent care model would affect current services at the
Putnoe Walk-in Centre which was under review pending a public consultation,
the contract for which ended in September 2018.
Members welcomed the proposals and the additional facilities that would help
care for residents in the West Mid Beds area and reduce numbers attending
A&E. However, it was paramount that services be communicated to residents,

SCHHPage 4

Item 2

04.06.18
Page 4

including extended hours, extended access and services available at Hubs. In
response the Locality Chairman and Communications Manager BCCG, advised
an education campaign was planned for residents and GPs would provide
guidance via their websites, through leaflet material and other methods
available at surgeries. Healthwatch would promote the new services through
its usual advisory channels.
RECOMMENDED The Committee: 1. Looks forward to seeing a successful urgent treatment centre on the
Bedford Hospital site which will be accessible by Central Bedfordshire
residents.
2. Looks to see a successful urgent treatment centre integrated with the local
urgent care service.
3. Expects an assurance that the new patient pathways, as well as the current
NHS 111 service, are clearly communicated to the public, GPs and other
stakeholders.
4. Requests an update for the Scrutiny meeting on 26 November 2018.
SCHH/18/100.Temporary Accommodation Placement Policy
The Head of Housing Solutions introduced the Temporary Accommodation
Placement Policy and a presentation that highlighted the key principles. The
outcomes from the consultation policy had informed the work of officers and
provided the ability to respond to people in challenging and sometimes
distressing circumstances in a consistent way. The Policy would also help to
prioritise need when families with children, and vulnerable people, presented
themselves. The policy would help provide the means to understand demand,
investigate trends and prevent the need for temporary accommodation in some
cases.
The need for a suitable supply of temporary housing was recognised and was
fully supported. The focus on prevention since April 2018 had shown a positive
impact and the number of placements required had gone down.
The new Temporary Accommodation Placement Policy was unanimously
supported by the Committee.
RECOMMENDED the Committee: 1. Welcomes the clarity of the draft policy while recognising the onus and
pressures now placed on local authorities.
2. Welcomes the overall support from the consultation exercise.
Sees that in offering transitional accommodation, it accepts the factors to
consider at paragraph 11, while emphasising the need to consider families with
young children and persons with particular health needs.

SCHHPage 5

Item 2

04.06.18
Page 5

SCHH/18/101.Work Programme 2018/19 and Executive Forward Plan
The Committee considered the current work programme and Executive
Forward Plan. The work programme was agreed subject to the addition of the
following items: 




Citizens Advice Bureau Presentation about the services they deliver for
Central Bedfordshire residents 17 September 2018
To receive a paper regarding Dementia for 17 September
Update regarding the Urgent Treatment Centre provision, 26 November
2018
Update regarding the Phlebotomy Service at Arndale House, Luton – 28
January 2019.

Meeting closed 12.20 pm
(Note: The meeting commenced at 10.00 a.m. and concluded at 12.25 p.m.)

Chairman…………………………………..
Dated…………………………………..

This page is intentionally left blank

CARE
TEAMWORK
QUALITY
RESPECT
HONESTY

Item 10
Page 1

EEAST Profile

Item 10
Page 2

• Covering 7,500 square miles
• Serving 5.8 million people
• With 4,000 staff and 1,500
volunteers
• Managed 1.1 million 999
calls last year
• Completed 500,000 nonemergency patient
transport journeys last year

Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service (NEPTS)
Background
•

EEAST Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service (NEPTS) contract for Beds &
Herts commenced 1st January 2018.

•

Followed emergency cover at short notice from 30th September 2017.

•

Contract is for 2 years with the option to extend for a further year.

•

Ongoing mobilisation to recruit to vacancies, as well as a full management team
and replacement vehicles and equipment.

•

The new contract is to deliver a service operating 24 hours a day, 365 days a
year. The service will be managed by a General Manager for Bedfordshire and
Hertfordshire, with a Locality Business Manager and Ambulance Liaison Officer
both based in each CCG.

•

Investing locally in our strong relationship with commissioners
Item 10
Page 3

Staffing and Vehicles
•
•

All vehicles have been sourced and are in place
Full management team for Bedfordshire in place, under direction of the
Sector Head for A&E and NEPTS and a dedicated General Manager for
NEPTS.
Ongoing staff recruitment. 108 WTE posts, 70 staff in post
All EEAST staff have contracts, uniform, equipment and are trained
Supplemented by 9 private ambulances during recruitment
Ad-hoc use of taxis if required

•
•
•
•

Performance
•
•
•

Activity currently >10% below contract
Call handling streaming redirecting >10% of requests
KPIs – not currently performing against targets. All patients are
being transported but not in compliance with agreed timeframes.

Item 10
Page 4

Plan
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Continue recruitment to fill vacancies
Identify additional activity and move from private providers to EEAST
Reduce routine private ambulance utilisation to 0 by January 2019
Ad-hoc taxi usage reduced to exceptional circumstances only
Temporarily move control room to Bedfordshire to improve performance –
October 2018
Improve KPI performance as staffing increases
Regular local engagement with hospitals and commissioners

Innovations
•
•
•

Staff-led plan to temporarily relocate and staff PTS Control room for
Bedfordshire. Follows staff engagement events
Staff recognition scheme based on Trust values – currently being piloted
in Bedfordshire
Intentionally developing an integrated ambulance service model –
NEPTS and A&E now in same local leadership structure

Item 10
Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Urgent Care Treatment Briefing Paper
Central Bedfordshire OSC
Date:
Subject:

September 2018
Urgent Pathway Update

Summary
This paper provides a high level update on the emerging changes to urgent care pathway in Bedfordshire and the impact of the new Urgent Treatment Centre.
Options
The OSC members are asked to note the update on Urgent Treatment Centre mobilisation.
Background
The national specification requires Urgent Treatment Centres to be open for at least 12 hours a day seven days a week, including bank holidays, providing both
pre-booked same day and “walk-in” appointments. Patients and the public should be actively encouraged to use the telephone or internet to contact NHS111 first
whenever an urgent care need arises, with access via NHS111 becoming the default option over time, as walk-in attendances diminish.
The national mandate requires Urgent Treatment Centres, and NHS111, to support patients to self-care and use community pharmacy whenever it is appropriate
to do so.
Bedfordshire patients whom are not in the direct vicinity of the hospital are encouraged to contact 111 for their Urgent Treatment who will refer them to the
closest Urgent Treatment Centre to their location. As a national initiative, UTC’s can be found located at or near most surrounding acute facilities.
Current Progress
The UTC project is on target to deliver from the 1 October 2018 from the Cauldwell Medical Centre on the Bedford Hospital site. (There was discussion on the
best location for the UTC within the hospital site however, in order to meet the timeframes available, Cauldwell Medical Centre has been deemed the most
appropriate place at this time.)

Item 11
Page 1

We have:
1) Developed a robust clinical pathway which allows patients to be redirected to the most appropriate service. This also includes access to the following
diagnostics:
 swabs,
 urine dips,







urine sent for culture
glucometer glucose
urine pregnancy tests
ECG
Blood tests (analysed via near patient testing, i.e. in area)

2) Access to X-Ray facilities will be via the Emergency Department as per existing pathways. Patients will be able to receive prescriptions directly from the
UTC.
3) Chosen an IT system that provides access to the patient’s own notes and allows a real-time update back to their GP. Patients will only have to book into
the service once, even if being referred into other services in the hospital
4) Recruited a staffing mix of GP’s and Advanced Nurse Practitioners (all Nurses are recruited and in place, GP interviews took place w/c 20 August 18 and
appointments are due to be made w/c 3 September)
5) Developed a flexible contractual framework to encourage collaboration across the healthcare system, ensuring the patient journey is paramount
6) Worked with partner organisations to ensure new pathways are implemented collaboratively and efficiently. Partners include (Ambulance, Out of Hours,
GP practices, Community Provider and patient groups)
7) Conducted two ‘Test for Change’ days where the clinical model was tested by redirecting patients as if the UTC were already operational. On both
occasions, the hospital achieved the 95% 4 hour wait for that day.

Communications plan
1. Clinical pathways and the communications plan were tested by patients during a public patient engagement session held in July. Outcomes from that
meeting were that patients felt we should inform the public about the new UTC, but direct them to the NHS111 service to ensure patients used the right
service, at the right time depending on their medical need.
2. Developed a communication plan with key messages for providers and the general public. This will be communicated from September and messages will
continue throughout the rest of the year as part of the local NHS winter communications plan.
END

Item 11
Page 2

Item 12
Page 1

Central Bedfordshire Council

Social Care Health & Housing Overview &
Scrutiny Committee

17 September 2018

Homelessness Enquiry

Report of:

Cllr Carole Hegley, Executive Member for Social Care,
Housing & Customer Services,
(Carole.Hegley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Responsible
Director(s):

Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health & Housing,
(Julie.Ogley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

This report relates to a decision that is Non-Key

Purpose of this report
1. To investigate how Housing is responding to Homelessness and to make
recommendations including any key actions and for improvements to the
customer experience that could be made. Whilst also acknowledging areas
where the Service is good in the opinion of the Tenants Scrutiny Panel.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is asked to:
1.

To receive and support the report on homelessness and its associated recommendations
and action plan resulting from the work of the Tenants Scrutiny Panel. In particular the
need for more social and affordable housing.

Issues
2. The TSP noted that whilst historically new developments would include up to
30% of new developments being for affordable housing, that current
developments and the proposed local plan indicate that they will not meet that

Item 12
Page 2
percentage of social housing and affordable housing, at least not in Dunstable.
With indications from developers that this was due to economic feasibility.

Council Priorities
1. As a landlord, the Housing Service is responsible for providing good quality
homes and services to the Council’ tenants, many of these tenants are
vulnerable. Tenant scrutiny provides a means of ensuring that the Council has
sound financial and service management and the report focusses on practical
help for those who are deemed homeless and supports the Council’s priority to
protect the vulnerable; improve wellbeing.

Corporate Implications
There are no additional implications

Legal Implications
2. There are no additional implications, no comments.
3. Note in April 2012, the Localism Act changed parts of the Housing and
Regeneration Act 2008 and established standards that social housing providers
are expected to achieve. As part of this revised regulatory framework for social
housing providers standards under the 2011 and 2008 acts, in particular require
registered providers to comply with specified rules about methods of enabling
tenants to influence of control the management of their accommodation and
environment.
4. The Council is expected to give tenants a wide range of opportunities to
influence, and be involved, in Scrutinising their landlord’s performance and
recommending how performance might be improved. Whilst there is no
prescriptive solution as to what methods are used to achieve this, a Tenants
Scrutiny Panel provides a good local vehicle.

Financial and Risk Implications
5. Clarification on funding is provided in the Housing Service response. There are
no additional implications.

Equalities Implications
6. To ensure that any decision does not unfairly discriminate, public authorities
must be rigorous in reporting to Members the outcome of an equality impact
assessment and the legal duties.
7. Whilst an equalities impact assessment was not undertaken the TSP
acknowledge this limitation in their report as providing a customer perspective
only. The National Standard for housing providers on Tenant Involvement
requires that the Council understands and responds to the diverse needs of
tenants. The Tenants Scrutiny Panel assists in progress on meeting this aim.

Item 12
Page 3

Conclusion and next Steps
8. As the report indicates the action plan has been agreed and the need for more
social and affordable Housing noted.
9. Following the presentation by the TSP report to the Chairman of SCHH
OSC, further clarification was sought. It was noted that the TSP had not
investigated the exact numbers and preferred location of additional social
and affordable housing. It was possible that Housing could supply
additional information on this from its research. Also, it was noted that the
tenants’ investment panel had commented on the local plan and that no
additional social housing had been planned for the Dunstable area. Finally,
it was noted that the Dukeminster development had not provided any
additional social housing, with the exception of Priory View, and were not
aware of other current developments where 30% of properties would be
built for social use. Although outside the scope of the TSP remit, this issue
would be explained and addressed.

Appendices
Appendix A:

TSP Homelessness report

Appendix B:

Housings Service review response

Background Papers

Report author(s): Brett Douglas
Home Ownership Team Leader
brett.douglas@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 12
Page 5

Central Bedfordshire Council
Tenant Scrutiny Panel
First draft report
Homelessness

Contact Details: Malcolm Miles, TSP Chair,
c/o Brett Douglas, Home Ownership Team Leader

pg. 1

Item 12
Page 6
EXECUTIVE.SUMMARY
The report was undertaken for the Housing Service at Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) to examine
how they are dealing with Homelessness and all its implications, and to work with CBC in making
Recommendations to improve the Service. As a result, the report intended to cover all aspects of the
Homelessness Service.
When scrutinising the subject of Homelessness, we found that CBC are heavily involved and have
made some implementations already, and have welcomed us onboard. A difficulty for us as a
scrutiny panel has been the uncertainty of the new government legislation which has been given
royal assent to come into effect from April 2018. CBC have been waiting for this so they can see how
much this will influence the way they run the homelessness services.
It is early days still for Housing Solutions, but we can see a positive relationship building between
CBC and their partners. The Scrutiny panel have met with the Partners at a seminar and found there
is a lot of organisations who help the homeless. We see the work they are all doing as positive and
enlightening.
More information should be made available to where homeless clients can contact CBC and
informational packs should also be out in the community for clients. Clients should be made aware
they may be housed in a new location and information will be supplied when they move to help
them with the transition.
We have made recommendations, which are tying in with the actions that CBC have already made.
We the scrutiny panel have formed a good working relationship with the key CBC colleague dealing
with Homelessness. There needs to be more affordable housing for Temporary and permanent
Accommodation built. We found it is important to know where Homelessness occurs and CBC have
advised us they understand where demand is. One big turnaround for CBC is they are no longer
putting clients into hotels or Bed and Breakfast which has been a huge expense to CBC in the past, so
well done for that.

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1
The Tenant Scrutiny Panel (TSP) has been working alongside with CBC for almost four and half years
now, scrutinising the housing Service department. To date we have looked at Anti-Social Behaviour
ASB which we made 28 Recommendations how CBC could improve the service, and all 28 were
adopted. Moving on we have also looked at Customer Satisfaction in the housing repairs service and
we interviewed staff and tenants alike with all recommendations made and all have been adopted.
1.2
We are currently dealing with the topic of Homelessness and working closely with a dedicated staff
member of CBC. The panel also attended a partner’s seminar which was very enlightening. Meetings
have taken place with the Managers of a Temporary Homeless Complex and met with some
homeless Clients. The panel currently consists of five members: Mal (chair), Maggie, Ron, Rosa
Marie, and Darren.

pg. 2

Item 12
Page 7

1.3
This project has been a more testing one for the scrutiny panel not least because of the delay caused
by the governments new homelessness legislation bill. Which has prevented CBC from moving
forward in certain areas of the Homelessness Service until they understand the implications of the
New Bill.

2.

METHODOLOGY

2.1. The Scrutiny project was undertaken using the following methodology.



Working with the lead staff member responsible for homelessness within Central
Bedfordshire.



Meetings with partners that are extensively involved with homelessness.



Interviews with onsite housing managers of Temporary Accommodations.



Meetings with Homeless clients.



Waiting for the Government to produce the New Homeless Legislation Bill.

3. FINDINGS
3.1.

ACCESS TO THE SERVICE

3.1.1
Housing Solutions is a comparatively new service that has come about from homelessness and is a
big learning curve for everybody at CBC, partners and Homeless clients. The Governments New
Homelessness Legislation Bill, has led to a delay in certain areas in which CBC can operate until they
understand the implications of the Bill.
3.1.2
A lot of work has been done so far by CBC but what we have found is a lack of information for
homeless clients at the onset of being made homeless. We checked in CBC reception, there is
nothing to inform people in a potential Homelessness situation as to where they need to go or
phone. Information should be on the entrance doors of the Council Offices. This information is
basic for an Out of Hours situation. Though since we raised these points we note a leaflet stand with
information, along with relevant youtube videos on the flatscreen t.v, are both in the customer
meeting room.

pg. 3

Item 12
Page 8
3.3.

DEALING WITH HOMELESSNESS

3.3.1
Surveys should be done to establish where in the CBC area, Homeless clients wish to live so the
Council can plan where to build more affordable homes, as becoming homeless can affect anyone.
This will give a clearer view to where to we can also acquire properties for Homeless clients for both
temporary and permanent accommodation.
3.3.2
Information needs to be readily available to homeless clients, to inform them of local Shops,
Schools, Job prospects, and all that surrounds that. This could be part of the conversation had when
customers meet with staff from the Intensive Property Management Team.
3.3.3
More information needs to be given about the numerous partners involved with homelessness. The
TSP panel have met with some of them at a Seminar through CBC and found it very Positive and
enlightening. The new homelessness Act is developing a prescribed list of the partners who have a
statutory duty to work with the Council. This along with a self assessment toolkit will be available on
the website.
3.3.4
Benchmarking is carried out monthly and should be set to see comparisons with other Councils for
CBC to then gauge how they are performing. This is updated monthly by central government and can
be found on the Gov.uk website.
3.3.5
As this Homelessness project has grown our lead CBC staff member has informed us she is taking on
new staff to cope with the work load which needed to happen.
3.3.6
One of the Partners known as the Night Bus Service: run a pick-up system, they go to given points
and pick up people that are Homeless and provide soup, sandwiches etc. The seats are reclining so
they can sleep on the Bus and then in the morning they are dropped back as to where they had been
picked up the night before. We are hoping to visit this service if possible.
3.3.7
The government have recently presented their new homelessness legislation bill, which has been
given royal assent, to all Councils. This is taking time for CBC to digest and work out what the
implications mean to CBC. This will create differences as to how they can run the Homelessness
Service.

pg. 4

Item 12
Page 9
3.4.

RECOMMENDATIONS

NUMBER

RECOMMENDATION

PRIORITY

TIMESCALE

1

a) The overall, underlying problem
is there is not enough housing for
the central Bedfordshire area.

High

6 months

b) There is not enough housing
being built to house the growing
population of central Bedfordshire.
2

More accommodation needs to be
available now and in the future for
the ratios of the Housing
temporary on licence clients or
permanent clients

High

2 months

3

CBC should be considering the help
that Housing Associations could
give them with the homeless
situation, this should include all
Housing Associations.

High

4 months

4

CBC to work with private landlords
in the prevention of their tenants
becoming homeless, through
dialogue/mediation.

Medium

6 months

5

We feel CBC needs to look at a way
of Managing properties in the
private sector to give them an
added arm with housing the
homeless.

High

4 months

6

CBC should acquire properties in
the Central Beds area for the
Housing of the Homeless and
people on a temporary basis which
would help keep Homeless clients
in their own communities.

High

6 months

7

Leaflets should be made available
for potentially Homeless People Via
Doctors Surgeries, Supermarkets,
Libraries, Hospitals: in the
community.

High

2 months

pg. 5

Item 12
Page 10
8

We feel the Night Bus Service that
operates a pick up service for
homeless clients, feeding them and
supplying a bed, for example in
Bedford and BullPond Lane,
Dunstable, should be supported by
CBC. We feel CBC are missing some
clients, and a pick-up system
traveling round the Central Beds
area would capture a wider
cliental.

High

1 month

9

a) We would like posters
advertising that CBC can help
prevent people from becoming
homeless.
b) Out of hours details on Council
building doors. This would help
point them in the right direction
when Council Offices are closed.

Very high

1 month

10

We would like more information
made available to clients when in a
new area i.e. local services, a pack.

High

1 month

11

More Communication should be
available from CBC to Homeless
clients. Maybe a package
containing details of Schooling, Job
Centres, Libraries, Foodbanks,
shops, bus Services.

High

1 month

12

A survey of the CBC area should be
undertaken to ascertain if there are
certain places that Homelessness
occurs, which would help in the
way CBC can house clients, be it
temporary or on Licence or
Permanent.

High

2 months

13

There is a Rough Sleeping
Partnership (RSP). We support CBC
being involved in. It is only a twoyear project and we would urge
that it can continue after the two
years to benefit and be accessible
to future clients.

Medium

6 months

pg. 6

Item 12
Page 11
14

pg. 7

Bench Marking: could give CBC
feedback as to how they are
performing in dealing with the
Homelessness Situation : this needs
to be shared.

Medium

6 months

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 12
Page 13

Central Bedfordshire Council
Report to:
Date:
Report Title
Contact Officers:
1.

Tenant Scrutiny Panel (TSP)
May 2018
Homelessness
Charlotte Gurney - Locality Manager, Housing Solutions

Purpose of Report

The purpose of the TSP report is to examine what ways and to what effect CBC improving is
the Customer Pathway for homeless people? The TSP enquiry is a collaboration between the
Housing Solutions service and TSP with the recommendations coming from the TSP, these
being within the scope of the TSP’s remit to examine how customers experience and
outcomes.
The following was included within the scope of this enquiry:
1. Homelessness Strategy Action Plan
2. Housing Solutions Service Plan
The Housing Service in parallel undertaken a review of the homelessness process to
compliment the TSP’s evaluation of customer experience, in the context of the
implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act.
2.

Scope

The TSP looked to understand the Housing Options approach (which is well established in
statutory guidance) in relation to both the customer experience of homelessness; and the
Improvement Plan being implemented to achieve better outcomes and a more positive
customer pathway for people who experience homelessness. This is happening in the
context of a comprehensive demand management approach across the Housing Service.
The main reason for the review was to understand the current homelessness pressures and
the improvement journey (action plan etc.,) that being progressed, from a customer
perspective.
During initial conversations with the TSP it was agreed that scrutiny of existing processes
would be out of scope, with their focus being on the customer and how the service offer
could be improved, during the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act. The TSP
was therefore introduced to and asked to scrutinise the;
1. Transitional accommodation (TA)
2. Permanent accommodation

Item 12
Page 14
3. Appropriate and accessible accommodation (different from general needs – to fit
individual needs)
4. Homelessness Strategy
5. Housing Solutions – latest review of their Action Plan
6. Presentation on Homelessness Reduction Act
7. Report on Modern Day Slavery with guidance for homelessness/councils
8. Homeless Forum minutes
9. Determination of homelessness (Legal process)
10. Interviewing of customers who are housed in Transitional Accommodation
During the TSP enquiry, regular communication was maintained and further information
was provided to assist their enquiries;
Contact with the Night Owl Night Shelter Bus service run by Amicus Trust and funded by
CBC.
3.

Complementary Service Review and improvements

Review of the existing process noted the following actions have been put onto our work
plan;
I.
A leaflet stand within homelessness/options meeting room
II.
Flat screen TV within homelessness/options meeting room showing you tube videos
on homelessness/allocations/lets rent on loop
III.
Better information pointing to how to contact Out of Hours if homeless (like the idea
of outdoor signage). This information is on the CBC Website.
The TSP noted we should understand where in CBC homelessness was occurring. We have
learnt homelessness comes from everywhere in CBC and occurs to all types of tenures and
social standing. It isn’t limited to certain areas or types of people. It is just the more affluent
you are, the easier it is to find something without needing council assistance. More
important is the information on where people want to live to remain close to schools,
doctor’s surgeries etc., so we can plan for where to build and where more affordable homes
are required.
With regards to Transitional Accommodation, the service agree that a local pack is a great
idea and would be extremely useful for the Intensive Property Management Team to
develop, for people staying in our various locations e.g. Bedford Court, Franklin House and
new Transitional Accommodation coming on stream. Where information, maps of local
area, shop location, Doctors can support the team who already have individual meetings
with customers to assist them when they arrive.
We work with many partners and service providers. The new homelessness act is developing
a prescribed list of those who will have a statutory duty to work with us, it will be released
in October 2018. Until then we are continuing to build relationships with everyone we work
with. Once there is a prescribed list we can add to our website and self-assessment toolkits
(available on line) with contact details.

Item 12
Page 15
Benchmarking is carried out by government including every local authority data on every
element of homelessness is released every month and you can compare to other. Link to
this information is as follows; https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/livetables-on-homelessness
FINDING

RECOMMENDATION

HOUSING RESPONSE

1

a) The overall, underlying
problem is there is not enough
housing for the central
Bedfordshire area and in
particular, not enough
adequate housing (disabled
accommodation, large
properties, 4 beds plus, and
older accommodation to
support the rightsizing
approach.

Agree more Housing is needed, there is a lot
of work going on in this area. Whilst we also
undertake demand management work to
ensure best use of existing stock

b) There is not enough housing
being built to house the
growing population of central
Bedfordshire.

We will continue to work with Council
colleagues in future planning numbers of
houses needed and best locations
In the last budget we requested money to
buy more stock to use as TA and then
maybe in the future convert to permanent
accommodation. This was approved
(£13m). (SEE NOTES BELOW) More
affordable housing is required in Dunstable,
more than anywhere else.

c) Need in Dunstable is
substantial and is least
provided for in the Local Plan.
The gap is substantial.
2

More accommodation needs to
be available now and in the
future for the ratios of the
Housing temporary on licence
clients or permanent clients

Franklin House is being refurbished, it will
be available in the summer of 2018 and
provide another 46 odd units of TA.

3

CBC should be considering the
help that Housing Associations
(HA) could give them with the
homeless situation, this should
include all Housing
Associations.

Discussions continue with HA. Howard
Cottage offered to buy properties for CBC to
use as TA.
Aragon have provided 20 homes for use as
TA.
All providers allow us to nominate Homeless
clients to their voids and a percentage of
advertised properties, through the
Bedfordshire Homefinder Website.

Item 12
Page 16
4

CBC to work with private
landlords in the prevention of
their tenants becoming
homeless, through
dialogue/mediation.

Yes, this is work we already do via Options,
Lets Rent and Private Sector Housing.

5

We feel CBC needs to look at a
way of Managing properties in
the private sector to give them
an added arm with housing the
homeless.

Lettings Service has been approved as a
pilot and have agreed 17 properties in
Caddington for the CASE Trust to manage.

6

CBC should acquire properties
in the Central Beds area for the
Housing of the Homeless and
people on a temporary basis
which would help keep
Homeless clients in their own
communities.

As mentioned the HRA budget has allocated
funding to buy more stock to use as TA and
then maybe in the future permanent
accommodation. Good progress is being
made. Supported by the Executive.

7

Leaflets should be made
available for potentially
Homeless People Via Doctors
Surgeries, Supermarkets,
Libraries, Hospitals: in the
community.

Agree factsheets to be updated and made
more readily available. There are also
YouTube videos being produced to improve
the quality of housing advice.

8

We feel the Night Bus Service
that operates a pick-up service
for homeless clients, feeding
them and supplying a bed, for
example in Bedford and Bull
Pond Lane, Dunstable, should
be supported by CBC. We feel
CBC are missing some clients,
and a pick-up system traveling
round the Central Beds area
would capture a wider cliental.

This is not in control of CBC as it is a
charitable organisation (not funded by us).
We do appreciate the work they do.

9

a) We would like posters
advertising that CBC can help
prevent people from becoming
homeless.
b) Out of hours details on
Council building doors. This
would help point them in the
right direction when Council
Offices are closed.

We have produced information and made it
available to help clients get in touch at the
threat of homelessness as well as in
emergency and are using different and new
ways such as YouTube to communicate with
customers as and when they need access to
information. The TSP have been happy with
progress to date.

The Housing Service is also creating a
‘Making Moves Team’ to improve the flow
rate through Transitional Accommodation.

Item 12
Page 17
10

We would like more
information made available to
clients when in a new area i.e.
local services, a pack.

We meet with customers on arrival at the
TA and can look to create packs based on
customer feedback.

11

More Communication should
be available from CBC to
Homeless clients. Maybe a
package containing details of
Schooling, Job Centres,
Libraries, Foodbanks, shops,
bus Services.
A survey of the CBC area should
be undertaken to ascertain if
there are certain places that
Homelessness occurs, which
would help in the way CBC can
house clients, be it temporary
or on Licence or Permanent.

As per Finding 10 above.

There is a Rough Sleeping
Partnership (RSP). We support
CBC being involved in. It is only
a two-year project and we
would urge that it can continue
after the two years to benefit
and be accessible to future
clients.

The RSP is now up and running and is
already proving to be very successful. This
partnership is only a 2 year project but it is
hoped that it continues whilst it is
successful.

12

13

14

Bench Marking: could give CBC
feedback as to how they are
performing in dealing with the
Homelessness Situation : this
needs to be shared.

This is in response to customers indicating
how this initial support is something they
value.

Demand Management work already
underway and Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment completed each year which
gives details on accommodation required.
The Housing Service Plan includes actions to
identifying at a more granular lever. The
demand/requirement in each of the main
settlements in Central Bedfordshire.

There are actions in the Housing Service
Plan to identify and deliver Nigh Shelter
provision linked to the provision of
Transitional Accommodation.
Data is collected monthly and available at;
https://www.gov.uk/government/statisticaldata-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness

3. Conclusion
The Service thank the TSP for their enquiry and the work they undertook and looks forward
to completing the actions resulting from the recommendations of the Tenants Scrutiny
Panel’s investigation. Our experience to date is that our advice is welcomed and that Action
Plans have been implemented. We are confident this will continue to be the case.

Item 12
Page 18
Overall, the challenge is for more accommodation to be provided (in terms of the Council’s
Local Plan) and for a high proportion of accommodation to be affordable, in particular to
provide more rented accommodation and specifically, more larger properties, more
accessible housing for disabled people and more older persons accommodation to enable
people to rightsize and make family sized accommodation available.
The affordable housing delivered in 2017/18 is welcomed but as a proportion of the total
number of homes provided, it falls some way short of the Council’s own policy requirement
(30%). The figures for 2017/18 are, we understand, as follows:





191 rented homes (affordable)
17 intermediate rented homes
129 shared ownership homes
6 shared equity
343 homes in total

NOTES:
13M referred to above, clarifying the figure quoted for Transitional accommodation with
this note from Finance colleagues. This £13M (or £12.963M to be exact) is correct, split
£1.15M for the Birches and £11.813M for other acquisitions. This is from the Medium Term
Financial Plan.

Item 13
Page 1

Central Bedfordshire Council
Social Care Health and Housing Overview and Srutiny Committee
17th September 2018

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home
Policy
Report of: Cllr Carole Hegley, (carole.hegley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Responsible Director(s): Julie Ogley, (julie.ogley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
This report relates to a decision that is Key
Purpose of this report
1.

To present the draft Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private
Sector Home Policy

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is asked to:
1.

Consider the draft Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private
Sector Home Policy and provide recommendations for Executive.

Issues
2.

The Council’s current Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Home
Policy was approved by Executive in August 2014. The policy included a review
date of August 2017 but at that time, it was clear that the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 (2017 Act) would bring new duties and requirements
including suitability of accommodation for homeless applicants.

3.

Statutory guidance was issued in February 2018, shortly before the 2017 Act
was implemented on 3rd April 2018. The 2017 Act introduced the Duties to
Prevent and Relieve homelessness. The “main” re-housing duty is retained
where homelessness cannot be relieved and where applicants are in priority
need, eligible for assistance, and not intentionally homeless.

4.

At all three stages, the Council has opportunity to discharge duties to a suitable
home although the statutory requirements vary according to the exact status of
the homelessness applicant. This has made the situation more complex for
Officers. The intention of this revised policy is to provide clarity to Officers and
customers in terms of the statutory requirements and how suitability is
considered.

Item 13
Page 2

5.

The draft policy is clear that for homeless applicants at prevention or relief
stages, the Council will seek to make a suitable Private Sector Housing Offer
(PSO). Over recent years, most of the private tenancies facilitated by the
Council through Let’s Rent have been preventing homelessness. These were
not PSOs but prevention (before it became a duty). Where the “main” duty was
owed, the Council discharged that duty with a PSO for 19 cases in 2017/18. In
2015/16 there were 14 and 2016/17 there were 9. To date this year there have
been 4 cases where a PSO was made.

6.

The aim of the 2017 Act was to significantly reduce rough sleeping through the
introduction of new duties (prevention and relief). The policy clarifies the
legislation to consider for applicants at different stages and whether they have
a priority need. A non-priority household can have a PSO made but a 6 month
tenancy will meet legal requirements. There is a risk of a return to
homelessness if the tenancy is not extended by the landlord and the Council
has to process a new application.

Options for consideration
7.

The draft policy includes suitability criteria for the main rehousing duty that is
consistent with the existing Council policy. In respect of the suitability criteria for
the new duties introduced by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the policy
mirrors statutory guidance and the Suitability Order. Whilst there is the option
for the policy to have higher suitability standards, this would restrict the
accommodation that the Council could use for PSOs and would prevent move
on from Transitional Accommodation (TA). It is considered that the policy
provides the right balance.

8.

The draft policy is clear that each case will be considered on it’s merits so any
particular issues that might make a particular property unsuitable should be
considered. The comprehensive assessment required under the 2017 Act
should mean that any risks or issues are recognised at an early stage.

9.

The suitability criteria provides safeguards to homeless households in terms of
accommodation that their homelessness duty could be discharged to. The
Housing Service wants to see homeless applicants create successful and
sustainable tenancies but at the same time the pressure of homelessness
means that absolute choice is not possible.

Reason/s for decision
10. The draft policy is considered to strike the right balance in providing safeguards
to homeless applicants whilst not being too onerous on Housing Officers when
trying to discharge the various homelessness duties. Consequently, it is
recommended that Executive approve the draft, revised policy.
Council Priorities

Item 13
Page 3
11. The draft policy most closely aligns with the Council priority; protecting the
vulnerable; improving well being. The suitability criteria provides safeguards to
homeless households in terms of accommodation that their homelessness duty
could be discharged to.
12. Discharging homeless duty to a PSO can also be cost effective for the Council
in terms of reducing TA costs. The policy also aligns with being an efficient
Council.
Corporate Implications
13. The suitability criteria looks to ensure the health of applicants is not put at risk.
There are safeguards built in to help prevent ill health and injury.
Legal Implications
14. The draft policy (section 5) contains the significant legal and regulatory
framework. Reference is made to the legislation throughout the draft policy,
indicating compliance. The policy has been subject to external expert and
LGSS review to ensure compliance with legislation. Local Authorities have four
primary accommodation and assistance duties under the Housing Act 1996 (as
amended), these are:





The duty to prevent homelessness (section 195)
The duty to secure interim accommodation (section 188)
The duty to help secure accommodation (section 189B)
The Main duty – to secure ongoing accommodation (section 193)

15. The draft policy is also clear that homeless applicants have right of review
(appeal) to the various discharges of duty and the Council has to be prepared
for these review requests. Having a clear, published policy provides additional
guidance and clarity to all homeless applicants. This might also be helpful in
instances where a customer takes a complaint to a higher authority, for
example the local government ombudsman.

Item 13
Page 4
Financial and Risk Implications
16.

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report, which sets
out what the Council considers suitable in terms of properties that
homelessness duties are discharged to. The size and type of property will be
considered against the household make up to help ensure that the property is
affordable based upon household income. In many cases, Housing Benefit (or
Universal Credit) will have to be applied for and this assistance is capped at
what the need is. By getting a PSO “right” for the household, the Council
avoids future costs.

17.

Facilitating lets into the private sector helps relieve some pressure on demand
for social housing accommodation. In most instances, however, there needs to
some financial assistance to help the applicant (new tenant) access and
establish the tenancy. The Council has a Homelessness Prevention budget of
approximately £0.19M, provided mainly through the Let’s Rent scheme that
was approved by Executive in August 2017. In many cases applicants will
establish repayment plans with the Council so that payments of rent in
advance can be recycled.

18.

The main benefit of facilitating a PSO is that the applicant can move out of
transitional accommodation, which might be expensive Nightly Let
accommodation. Consequently, this policy can help towards TA cost
avoidance.

Equalities Implications
19.

Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality of
opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation
and foster good relations in respect of nine protected characteristics; age
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

20.

Whilst homeless applicants are often vulnerable due to the nature of their
housing situation, the Council has to take into account any particular
additional issues when considering how to discharge its homelessness duty.
The draft policy is clear (4.3.6) that each case must be considered separately
and that this must arise from the assessments undertaken. The suitability
criteria looks to safeguard applicants’ welfare and health but should also take
account of any particular needs associated with any of the nine protected
characteristics.

21.

An equality impact assessment was completed for the 2014 policy, which
has not changed in respect of the main rehousing duty. The targeted
engagement was focused on key equality issues. An engagement outcome
report outlines the comments and the Council’s response. This is attached at
appendix B.

Conclusion and next Steps

Item 13
Page 5
22. The draft policy (appendix A) is considered by Officers to provide an
appropriate and legally compliant level of safeguard to ensure the health and
well-being to homeless applicants where their homelessness duty is being
discharged. At the same time, the policy does not overly restrict the Council
from making use of private rented accommodation. Not every applicant will be
happy with a property considered to be suitable but there are clear review
mechanisms available to help judge what is reasonable.
23. It is recommended that Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider the draft
policy and provide comment and/or recommendations for Executive. The draft
policy is being presented to Executive in October 2018.
Appendices
Appendix A:

Draft Discharge of Homelessness Duty to Suitable Private
Sector Home Policy

Appendix B:

Engagement response report

Background Papers
The following background papers, not previously available to the public, were taken
into account and are available on the Council’s website:
(i)

Equality Impact Assessment

Report author(s): Nick Costin, head of Housing Solutions,
nick.costin@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 13
Page 7

Discharge of Homelessness Duty
to a Suitable Private Sector
Home Policy
Directorate:

Social Care, Health, and Housing (SCHH)

Division & Service:

Housing Service

Author:

Joanne Bellamy, Policy & Performance Officer

Owner

Nick Costin, Head of Housing Solutions

Issue date:

May 2018

Approved By:

LGSS

Version No.

2.6

Approved
Date:

24th August
2018

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
1

Item 13
Page 8

SECTION 1.

INTRODUCTION

1.0

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 significantly reformed England’s
homelessness legislation by placing duties on local authorities to intervene at
earlier stages to prevent homelessness in their areas. It also requires housing
authorities to provide homelessness services to all those affected, not just
those who have ‘priority need’.

1.1

Local Authorities have four primary accommodation and assistance duties,
these are:





The Prevention duty (section 195)
The Interim accommodation (section 188)
The duty to help secure accommodation (section 189B)
The Main duty – to secure ongoing accommodation (section 193)

1.2

This policy outlines the process through which the Council will offer private
sector accommodation to any applicant to whom it owes an accommodation
duty under any of the duties listed above

1.3

The Council can discharge their homelessness duties through securing
suitable, available accommodation for the household. The property can be
either social housing or a property in the private rented sector which complies
with the relevant suitability orders. It is the Council's policy that it will always
look to find suitable private sector accommodation for any applicant in the first
instance where this accommodation is suitable.

1.4

Statutory regulations require the Council to take several matters into account
in determining the suitability of accommodation.

SECTION 2.

PURPOSE

2.0

Private rented accommodation can be used to prevent or relieve
homelessness, or to bring the Main housing duty to an end. This policy covers
the use of the offer of a private rented sector tenancy to discharge any
homelessness duty towards those households accepted as homeless.

2.1

The policy sets out the circumstances under which private rented sector
tenancies may be used in discharging any accommodation duty owed to
those households accepted as homeless or threatened with homelessness by
the Council.

2.2

The Council’s suitability criteria are set out in this policy.

SECTION 3.
3.1

SCOPE, DEFINITIONS AND RELATED POLICIES

The policy covers the use of private rented accommodation to prevent or
relieve homelessness, or to bring the Main housing duty to an end.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
2

Item 13
Page 9

3.2

It covers the utilisation of the powers granted to local authorities by the
commencement of the Localism Act 2011 and requirements of the Housing
Act 1996 Part VII and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

3.3

This policy is supported by the practice guidance, which sets out the
information that officers should consider when determining the suitability of a
property.

3.4

Definitions

3.4.1

Private Rented Sector Offer – is defined by the Localism Act 2011 as an offer
of an assured shorthold tenancy made by a private landlord to an applicant.
To end the Main Duty, the tenancy must be for a period of at least 12 months.
The council must have arranged the availability of the property to discharge
its homelessness duty.

3.4.2

Homelessness applicant – This is a person who completes an application to
be assessed as homeless or threatened with homelessness. This policy
refers to a homelessness applicant as ‘the applicant’.

3.4.3

Prevention and Relief - The duty on a local housing authority to take
reasonable steps to help applicants secure suitable accommodation that
remains available or becomes available to them, regardless of whether they
are in priority need or not.

3.4.4

Suitable Final Offer of Accommodation - Referred to in this policy where an
offer of accommodation is made to an applicant under the Relief duty.

3.4.5

The Main Duty – This is a duty on local housing authorities to secure
permanent accommodation for unintentionally homeless people in priority
need. The duty is set out in the Housing Act 1996 Part VII Section 193 and
this policy refers to this as ‘the Main duty’.

SECTION 4.

POLICY DETAILS

4.1

Overview of the homelessness duties

4.1.1

Assessments and personalised housing plans - The Council has a duty to
carry out an assessment in all cases where an eligible applicant is homeless
or threatened with homelessness. Following this assessment, the Council
must work with the person to develop a personalised housing plan, which will
include actions (or ‘reasonable steps’) to be taken by the Council and the
applicant to try and prevent or relieve homelessness. As part of this plan, the
Council will outline the steps required to access the private rented sector, this
will include the steps that the applicant should take and the steps that it will
take. The Council will have regard to the Homeless Code of Guidance 2018
when discharging this duty.
The Prevention duty - The Council has a duty to take reasonable steps to
help prevent any eligible person (regardless of priority need status,
intentionality and whether they have a local connection) who is threatened
with homelessness from becoming homeless. This means either helping them
to stay in their current accommodation or helping them to find a new place to

4.1.2

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
3

Item 13
Page 10
live before they become homeless. The prevention duty continues for 56 days
unless it is brought to an end in another way, for example by an event such
as accommodation being secured for the person, or by their becoming
homeless. The Council will have regard to the Homeless Code of Guidance
2018 when discharging this duty.
4.1.3

The Relief duty - If the applicant is already homeless, or becomes homeless
despite activity during the prevention stage, the reasonable steps in the
personalised housing plan will be focused on helping the applicant to secure
accommodation. This relief duty lasts for 56 days unless ended in another
way. If the Council has reason to believe a homeless applicant may be
eligible for assistance and have a priority need they must be provided with
interim accommodation. The Council will have regard to the Homeless Code
of Guidance 2018 when discharging this duty.

4.1.4

The Main housing duty - If homelessness is not successfully prevented or
relieved, the Council will owe the Main housing duty to applicants who are
eligible, have a priority need for accommodation and are not homeless
intentionally, unless they have refused a suitable final offer of accommodation
or Part VI offer at the Relief stage, or have been issued with a decision that
they have deliberately and unreasonably refused to cooperate. Certain
categories of household, such as pregnant women, families with children, and
households that are homeless due to an emergency such as a fire or flood,
have priority need if homeless. Other groups may be assessed as having
priority need because they are vulnerable as a result of old age, mental ill
health, physical disability, having been in prison or care or as a result of
becoming homeless due to domestic abuse.

4.1.5

Under the Main housing duty, housing authorities must ensure that suitable
temporary accommodation is available for the applicant and their household
until the duty is brought to an end, usually through the offer of a settled home.
The duty can also be brought to an end for other reasons, such as the
applicant turning down a suitable offer of temporary accommodation or
because they are no longer eligible for assistance. A suitable offer of a settled
home (whether accepted or refused by the applicant), which would discharge
the Main housing duty, includes an offer of a suitable secure or introductory
tenancy with a local authority, an offer of accommodation through a private
registered provider (also known as a housing association) or the offer of a
suitable tenancy for at least 12 months from a private landlord made by
arrangement with the local authority.

4.2

Options to Discharge the Council’s Homelessness Duties

4.2.1

Central Bedfordshire Council has the following options available to discharge
its accommodation duties:
a)
b)
c)

4.2.2

Social housing through a direct let
Social housing via Choice Based Lettings (CBL)
Suitable Private Sector Accommodation

A social housing property is suitable if:

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
4

Item 13
Page 11
a)
b)
c)

the Council considers the property to be affordable following an
assessment of the household’s circumstances,
it meets the social housing provider’s lettable standard and
it meets the suitability criteria (see appendix A).

4.3

Private Rented Sector Offers at Prevention, Relief and Main Duty Stage

4.3.1

Officers need to be mindful that accommodation that is suitable for a short
period, for example accommodation used to discharge an interim duty
pending inquiries under section 188, may not necessarily be suitable for a
longer period, for example to discharge a duty under section 193(2).

4.3.2

Where it is appropriate to do so officers should make a suitable final offer of
accommodation at the relief stages under S189B (2) rather than leaving it to
the Main Duty.

4.3.3

A Private Rented Sector Offer (PSO) is suitable for all duties except the Main
duty if:
a)
b)
c)
d)
c)
d)
e)

4.3.4

A Private Sector Offer (PSO) is suitable for the Main duty if:
a)
b)
c)
d)
c)
d)
e)

4.3.5

It is an assured shorthold tenancy of at least 6 months but not
exceeding 12 months,
It is made with the approval of the Council,
The Council considers the property to be affordable following an
assessment of the household’s circumstances, (practice guidance will
help define how to assess “affordable”),
The suitability criteria are met (see Appendix A),
The property is not unsuitable (see Appendix B or Appendix C for nonpriority need applicants) and,
The applicant is suitable (see 4.3.5).
The applicant has the right to request a review on the suitability of the
accommodation and of appeal to the county court unless they are not
in priority need.

It is an assured shorthold tenancy of at least 12 months,
It is made with the approval of the Council,
The Council considers the property to be affordable following an
assessment of the household’s circumstances, (practice guidance will
help define how to assess “affordable”),
The suitability criteria are met (see Appendix A),
The property is not unsuitable (see Appendix B) and
the applicant is suitable (see 4.3.5).
The applicant has the right to request a review on the suitability of the
accommodation and of appeal to the county court.

Officers will consider the following when deciding if to make a PSO:
a) A PSO would not be made if the property does not meet the accessibility
needs of the household and significant disabled adaptations would be
required to make the property suitable. Advice will be sought from
Occupational Therapists in terms of the applicant's needs and
disabilities.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
5

Item 13
Page 12
b) The Council would not usually make a PSO if the applicant was
previously a social housing tenant and who has fled domestic violence;
other violence; or harassment.
c) The Council would not usually make a PSO to the following groups of
people:
 If the applicant is unable to meet the affordability criteria.
 If the applicant requires supported accommodation or unlikely to
be able to sustain a private rented tenancy.
4.3.6

The Council is required to assess whether accommodation is suitable for
each household individually, and case records should demonstrate that they
have taken the statutory requirements into account in securing the
accommodation, including general duties such as the Public-Sector Equality
Duty.

4.3.7

The Council has a continuing obligation to keep the suitability of
accommodation under review, and to respond to any relevant change in
circumstances which may affect suitability, until such time as the
accommodation duty is brought to an end.

4.4

Making the offer to discharge the homelessness duty

4.4.1

Where possible, the Council will seek to make a suitable PSO during the
prevention or relief stage of an application.

4.4.2

Any offer of accommodation made by the Council during the prevention or the
relief stage to an any applicant who is in priority need will be for a minimum of
6 months (although 12 months would be aimed for), and will conform to the
suitability standards outlined in Article 3 of the Homelessness (Suitability of
Accommodation) (England) Order 2012.

4.4.3

Any offer of accommodation made by the Council during the prevention or the
relief stage to an any applicant who is not in priority need will be for a
minimum of six months, and will have regard to the suitability standards
outlined in Article 3 of the Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation)
(England) Order 2012.

4.4.4

Applicants that self-identify a private sector property they wish to move to
must seek the approval of the Council that it is a suitable property before
entering into a contract. Whilst a property identified by an applicant does not
have to conform to the suitability standards, the Council will offer guidance to
enable the applicant to consider the standards and will have regard to Article
3 of the Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (England) Order 2012
in determining its suitability. Where an applicant identifies the property, and is
helped to secure it, this will not constitute a PSO. Therefore, once the
property is secured the application will close and the two-year re-application
period (see 4.5) will not apply if the applicant moves to a property not
arranged by the Council regardless of whether they would have been owed
the Main Duty.

4.4.5

Officers will send a letter to the applicant when making an offer, setting out
the following:

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
6

Item 13
Page 13
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

the duty under which the offer is being made
possible consequences of refusal or acceptance
the right to request a review of the suitability of accommodation
that the Council is satisfied that the accommodation is suitable
that the Council regards itself as ceasing to be subject to the duty.

4.4.6

During the first year of a PSO tenancy, the Council will endeavour to provide
some level of support to the applicant to help sustain the tenancy, subject to
resources available and competing demand for services.

4.4.7

Where an offer of accommodation is made under a prevention duty and the
offer is refused, this will not affect any further duties that may be owed to the
applicant. However, it may be the case that the same accommodation may
then be offered to an applicant as a relief duty where this is appropriate and
suitable.

4.4.8

Where a final accommodation offer of a private sector tenancy is made
(S189B) to discharge the Relief Duty, the application will close and the main
duty will no longer be owed if the applicant refuses the property and a review
is not requested. The Council will provide the applicant with reasonable notice
to vacate any temporary accommodation.

4.4.9

Where a PSO is made to discharge the Main Duty, the application will close if
the applicant refuses the property and a review is not requested. The Council
will provide the applicant with reasonable notice to vacate any temporary
accommodation.

4.4.10 What is considered ‘reasonable notice’ would depend on the facts of the
case, taking into account the circumstances of the applicant and allowing time
for them to consider whether to request a review of the decision. Usually 28
days’ notice will be given but in some cases the length of notice may be
shorter or longer than 28 days depending on the circumstances of the case
and the need for the accommodation for other homeless applicants.
4.4.11 The Council will assist the receiving local authority where a suitable PSO is in
another area. The receiving authority should receive written notification within
14 days (s208 of the Housing Act 1996) of the accommodation becoming
available.
4.5

Re-application to a housing authority within two years of acceptance of
a private rented sector offer under the Main Duty

4.5.1

The section 193(2) duty will apply regardless of whether the applicant has a
priority need where:

a) a person makes a re-application for assistance within 2 years of accepting a
private rented sector offer
b) the applicant is eligible for assistance and has become homeless
unintentionally.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
7

Item 13
Page 14
4.5.2

The date from which the 2 years begins is the date of acceptance of the
private rented sector offer, not the date when the tenancy was granted or
when the applicant moved in.

4.5.3

If, following the expiry of the initial 12 month assured shorthold tenancy, an
applicant secures their own accommodation and then subsequently becomes
homeless within 2 years of the original private rented sector offer then the reapplication duty will still apply.

4.5.4

Given the 2-year re-application duty, the Council will aim to keep the
household circumstances under review as they approach the expiry of the 12
month tenancy so they can help actively prevent homelessness wherever
possible.

4.5.5

If the applicant is found to have become homeless intentionally but does have
a priority need, the housing authority must secure short-term accommodation
for the applicant under section 190(2)(a) for such period as they consider will
give them a reasonable opportunity of securing accommodation.

4.6

Right to review of suitability

4.6.1

With an offer of accommodation in the private sector under this policy,
applicants will be required to confirm their decision whether or not they will
accept the offer within a reasonable period of time, usually at the viewing.
Where an applicant is in priority need, they will also be advised of their right to
request a review of the suitability of the offer of accommodation. There is no
right of review on suitability grounds for an applicant that is not in priority
need.

4.6.2

An applicant in priority need can request a review of the decision that a
property is suitable and that the duty owed to them under the homeless
legislation is discharged within 21 days of being notified of the decision. An
applicant can accept the accommodation offer and still request a review.
Review requests received later than this will only be accepted in exceptional
circumstances.

4.6.3

Once a review request is received, the Council will write to the applicant to
acknowledge receipt of the request. Regulation 9 of The Homelessness
(Review Procedure etc) Regulations 2018 provides information on the period
within which the applicant (or the applicant’s authorised agent) must be
notified of the decision on a review.

4.6.4

The review will be carried out by a senior officer who was not involved in the
original decision or by an independent reviews service commissioned by the
Council for this purpose.

4.6.5

The review may be unsuccessful (that is, the original decision is upheld) or
successful in which case the original decision is amended. The Council will
write to the applicant to advise of the decision. The letter will be sent to their
address and where this is not known, a copy will be available for collection at
the Council’s offices. The decision letter will give reasons for any findings. It
will also set out the limited right of appeal to the County Court.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
8

Item 13
Page 15

SECTION 5.

LEGAL AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

Legislation
 Housing Act 1996 Part VII - Duties on local authorities to assist people who
are homeless.
 Homelessness Act 2002 – An Act outlining the functions of local housing
authorities relating to homelessness and the allocation of housing.
 The Homelessness (Priority Need for Accommodation) Order 2002 provided
updated information on priority need groups.
 Housing Act 2004 – Provided details on housing conditions and the regulation
of Houses in Multiple Occupation, among other housing issues.
 Localism Act 2011(Part 7, s148 and s149)) – Enabled local authorities to
discharge their duty towards homeless households in priority need by using
privately rented housing irrespective of whether the household is in
agreement with this.
 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 - Updates the Housing Act 1996 Part
VII and places additional duties on local authorities to prevent and relieve
homelessness.
 The Homelessness (Review Procedure etc) Regulations 2018
 The Equality Act 2010 - Places a general duty on all public bodies to have
due regard to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and
foster good relations between different people.
Regulations
 The Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) Order 1996 (SI
1996/3204).
 The Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (England) Order 2012 (SI
2012/2601).
 Supplementary Guidance on the homelessness changes in the Localism Act
2011 and on the Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (England)
Order 2012 – explains the changes section 148 and 149 of the Localism Act
make to the homelessness legislation.
 Article 3 of the Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (England) Order
2012 concerns the suitability of privately rented accommodation offered to
certain applicants who are homeless or threatened with homelessness.
 The Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities (2018)
Local housing and social services authorities must have regard to this
guidance when exercising their functions relating to people who are homeless
or at risk of homelessness.
SECTION 6.
6.1

The potential impact of this policy on the various protected characteristics has
been identified and addressed through an Equality Impact Assessment.

SECTION 7.
7.1

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY

MONITORING AND REPORTING ARRANGEMENTS

Monitoring will be included within the performance framework of the Social
Care Health and Housing Directorate, officers will monitor the outcomes of
PSOs to help assess the success of the policy.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
9

Item 13
Page 16
SECTION 8.
8.1

Appropriate staff will receive training on the policy principles and the practice
guidance prior to implementation of the policy.

SECTION 9.
9.1

RESPONSIBILITIES

The Head of Housing Solutions is responsible for overseeing the delivery and
monitoring the impact of the policy.

SECTION 10.
10.1

INFORMATION AND TRAINING

EVALUATION AND REVIEW

This policy will be reviewed every three years unless a review is required prior
to the end of the three-year period.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
10

Item 13
Page 17
Appendix A
Suitability of property location for a Private Sector/Section 193 Offer
In determining whether the property location is suitable, Central Bedfordshire Council
will consider:
1.

The significance of any disruption caused by the location from
employment, caring responsibilities, or education of the household
1.1

1.2

1.3

2.

The proximity to and accessibility of medical facilities and other
support, which are used by, or essential to the well-being, of the
household
2.1

3.

If the applicant or any member of the household requires specialist
medical treatment or support then the location will need to be of
sufficient proximity to enable this. The Council will also have regard to
other medical treatment or support required by the applicant or any
member of the household where it will be detrimental to change
provider or location.

The proximity and accessibility to local services, amenities and
transport
3.1
3.2

4.

The PSO location must be within a reasonable travel to work area for
employed members of the household. Transport links must be
frequent enough to enable this. Employment is usually taken to be at
least 16 hours per week. A PSO could still be suitable if it is further
away from the place of work than the applicant’s current location.
The location of a PSO will need to be of sufficient proximity to enable
an applicant to continue with their caring responsibilities. Officers must
verify that the applicant is a carer for another person, who cannot
readily withdraw this care without serious detriment to the well-being of
the other party.
If any members of the household have special educational needs, i.e.
as identified in an Education, Health and Care Plan or attend a special
school, or are undertaking GCSEs or A levels at school (Years 10 to
13), then they should not be required to change schools.

Regardless of location, the Council will seek to offer a home that is
reasonably accessible to local services and amenities, especially for
people on low incomes, and those reliant on public transport.
Due regard will be given to issues related to the Equality Act protected
characteristics.

PSO outside the Central Bedfordshire area
4.1

The Council, where reasonably practicable, will seek to offer private
sector accommodation within the Central Bedfordshire area, except:
a) When it considers it beneficial to move the household out of Central
Bedfordshire, for example, to reduce the risk of domestic violence,
other violence, or harassment; or to assist persons in breaking away
from detrimental situations, such as drug or alcohol abuse, or

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
11

Item 13
Page 18
b) When the household requests to move away from Central
Bedfordshire, or
c) When the applicant consents to move away from Central
Bedfordshire, or
d) When a person has a very limited / no local connection to Central
Bedfordshire (for example, they may have approached having fled
violence from another area).
e) When moving to a property in a neighbouring local authority will satisfy
the suitability criteria set out above.
4.2

If a suitable home is not available within Central Bedfordshire, a
suitable private sector offer can be made in a neighbouring authority,
normally an area in close proximity to Central Bedfordshire. This
location must have reasonable facilities and transport links.

4.3

A record will be made of how a decision to place an applicant out of
district has been reached, taking into account the household’s
collective and individual needs.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
12

Item 13
Page 19
Appendix B
Accommodation unsuitable for a Private Sector Offer – Priority Need
The Council will give due regard to Homelessness Code of Guidance 2018 Chapter
17 - Suitability of Accommodation when considering whether a property is unsuitable
for a PSO. Suitable size of a property according to the family make up is set out in
the Allocations Policy. Supplementary to this, Central Bedfordshire Council will also
use the following criteria to consider whether a property is unsuitable:
No.

Unsuitability criteria

Evidence

1

The accommodation is not in
a reasonable physical
condition.

Central Bedfordshire Council officers will either:




physically inspect all PSO accommodation
before it is offered; or
require a letting agent to physically inspect a
property (usually requiring that agent to be a
member of a suitable trade body); or
request another local authority or agent to
undertake an inspection on its behalf (usually
for out-of-area property).

Inspectors will record the condition of the property
using broadly similar categories to those used by the
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)
to ensure consistent quality. Housing staff will
usually undertake the inspections, but a qualified
HHSRS assessor will carry out a further inspection if
possible HHSRS category 1 or more serious
category 2 hazards are found.
2

Electrical equipment does
not meet the requirements of
Schedule 1 of the Electrical
Equipment (Safety) Regs
2016.

All landlords/ agents will be asked to supply a
satisfactory Electrical Safety Certificate from within
the last five years.
Any moveable electrical items in the property will
require evidence of a Portable Appliance Test (PAT)
within the last year.
The inspection of the property will seek to identify
any broken fittings or obvious electrical defects,
such as loose wiring, or electrical faults.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
13

Item 13
Page 20
3

The landlord has not taken
reasonable fire safety
precautions with the
accommodation and any
furnishings supplied with it

The inspection of the property will check that it is fire
safe. Landlords should provide working smoke
detectors (battery or mains) in all properties. The
landlord should provide a copy of a Fire Risk
Assessment if there are additional fire safety
provisions, e.g. where a building has common parts.
All furniture and furnishings supplied by the landlord
must also be shown to comply with the Furniture
and Furnishings (Fire Safety) Regulations 1988 (as
amended).

4

The landlord has not taken
reasonable precautions to
prevent carbon monoxide
poisoning

The Council will provide a carbon monoxide detector
if the property has an active gas supply (for heating
or cooking) and a recent detector is not supplied by
the landlord. The Council will provide appropriate
advice and assistance to ensure the detector is fitted
properly.
Landlords should provide a Gas Safe certificate for
gas fires.

5

That there is not a current
gas safety record for the
property

All landlords/ agents of properties with a gas supply
must supply a current Gas Safety Certificate before
a letting starts.

6

That the accommodation
does not have a valid
Energy Performance
Certificate (EPC).
That the EPC states the
rating is below an E (i.e. it is
an EPC rating of F or G).

All landlords/ agents should supply a valid EPC
Certificate for the property, which shows that the
energy efficiency rating for the property is E or
above.

7

Where the local housing
authority are of the view that
the landlord is not a fit and
proper person to be a
landlord

Private Sector Housing colleagues will check their
records for evidence that could indicate whether a
landlord or agent is not a ‘fit and proper’ person.

That the accommodation is a
House in Multiple
Occupation or HMO (inc
subject to additional
licensing) and is not
licensed.
That the landlord has not
provided a written tenancy
agreement that the local

HMO properties will not usually be used for PSO’s.
Where they are, Private Sector Housing Officers will
check that the property is properly licensed and
compliant, particularly in respect of fire safety and
management.

8

9

When placing applicants outside of CBC area
officers will liaise with the receiving district to check
whether that authority has taken any enforcement
activity against the landlord.

The Council offers a model Assured Shorthold
Tenancy (AST) agreement for landlords to use.
Where this is not used, officers will ensure that an
acceptable, written AST is used, clearly setting out

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
14

Item 13
Page 21
authority considers
adequate.

the tenant’s and landlord’s obligations, rent and
charges, and is free from any unfair or unreasonable
terms.
Officers will also inform landlords of the
requirements to use Tenancy Deposit Schemes
prior to sign-ups.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
15

Item 13
Page 22
Appendix C - Accommodation unsuitable for a PSO – Where there is no priority
need or where the accommodation was identified by the applicant
1.0

The requirements above (Appendix B) do not apply to accommodation
secured for households that do not have priority need, or to accommodation
that the authority helped the applicant to secure (for example through a bond
guarantee or financial assistance) but which the applicant identified
themselves. However, the Council will have regard to the requirements when
considering accommodation for these groups.

1.1

The Council will make reasonable efforts to ensure private rented
accommodation secured for applicants who do not have priority need is safe,
and in reasonable condition; and that all applicants looking for their own
accommodation have sufficient guidance to enable them to consider
standards by having regard to the standards in Appendix B when considering
whether the accommodation is unsuitable. Where a property may have been
considered unsuitable under one of the criteria in Appendix B but it is
considered suitable by the applicant for their needs, it will be clearly recorded
in the case file along with the reason why the property was deemed to be
suitable by the applicant.



All applicants will be given a copy of How to rent: The checklist for renting in
England
Applicants will also be provided with a locally produced information leaflet
providing advice that aligns with Appendix B.

Discharge of Homelessness Duty to a Suitable Private Sector Home Policy,
24/08/2018, V2.6
16

Item 13
Page 23
Appendix B - Response to Discharge of Duty Engagement comments
Could the Policy have a negative impact or put a particular group at a disadvantage on the grounds
of Age?
Response Yes (1)
No (3)
Please explain your answer
Those clients unsafe to remain within CBC area will have to live outside the area where there is no
support. A safeguarding form should be submitted to vulnerable adult, ELT are other agencies as part
of the policy
CBC Response – The Council’s Housing Options team will liaise with the relevant agency/service from
the time of the initial assessment where support needs have been identified. If a safeguarding
referral is required it will be made (all Officers have been trained), however, these are issues to
understand and resolve before a duty is discharged.
Could the Policy have a negative impact or put a particular group at a disadvantage on the grounds
of Disability?
Response Under the Equality Act 2010 a person is considered to have a disability if he/she has a physical or
mental impairment which has a sustained and long-term adverse effect on his/her ability to carry
out normal day to day activities.
Yes (2)
No (2)
Disability: Please explain your answer
They may be overlooked for properties due to support they require to live their not being in place i.e.
for example, a private landlord is less likely to accept a nomination for someone who requires
extensive support
Could have a negative impact if the property offered is not suitable for their mental or physical needs
and should state in the policy that an OT should assess a property as suitable before discharge and
that impact of noise, communal noise level and surrounding noise levels of traffic, etc should be
taken into consideration when considering suitability of a property for a person with mental health.
CBC response – para 4.3.5 is clear that a PSO would not be made where the applicant has needs that
require adaptations to be made. An OT will often be requested to make an assessment but this will
be made more explicit in 4.3.5.
Could the Policy have a negative impact or put a particular group at a disadvantage on the grounds
of Gender reassignment?
Gender reassignment - People who are transsexual, where their gender identity is different from
the gender assigned to them when they were born

Item 13
Page 24
Yes (1)
No (2)
Gender reassignment: Please explain your answer
It could but depends on the person on how they wish to express their gender difference so the
suitability criteria should take into account the persons view on this and whether they wish to live in
rural or town locations if there is a risk of harm by living in a town where there is a chance that
person could be victimised.
CBC response – if there is a risk of harm within a particular location this will be considered at the
assessment stage but there would need to be some evidence to verify such a claim.
Could the Policy have a negative impact or put a particular group at a disadvantage on the grounds
of Marriage and civil partnership?
Yes (-)
No (2)
Don't know (2)
Could the Policy have a negative impact or put a particular group at a disadvantage on the grounds
of Pregnancy and maternity?
Yes (2)
No (2)
Pregnancy and maternity: Please explain your answer
At what point is housing need assessed? When someone is pregnant they still only have a 1 bed need
but it becomes a 2 bed after baby born. Are properties allocated due to what housing need will be
and even if it is offered HB won’t be in place for a 2 bed until baby is born. Only if it has not been
taken into account that the client needs to be registered with a hospital and Medical services and has
access to these services. They could be disadvantaged if they cannot claim child tax credits until the
child in born and they cannot afford to pay the rent while they wait for benefits to be awarded. Most
are on SMP and therefore have very little income to afford private rented accommodation.
CBC response – for a pregnant woman, the need is assessed as two-bed. Whilst the housing benefit
issue is recognised, that issue is outside of the scope of this draft policy. It is possible that
discretionary housing benefit might be available.
Could the Policy have a negative impact or put a particular group at a disadvantage on the grounds
of Race?
Yes (1)
No (3)
Race: Please explain your answer
again, only if the suitability criteria has not been met and taken into account any areas where there
could be racial tension

Item 13
Page 25
CBC response – If there is evidence of an area with racial tension, this would be considered as the
applicant might be not considered lively to sustain a tenancy in such an area (4.3.5).
Could the Policy have a negative impact or put a particular group at a disadvantage on the grounds
of Religion or belief?
Yes (1)
No (3)
Please explain your answer
Only if the property discharged into is not situated near their religious practice and they are unable
to attend or they live in an area where there is religious tension
CBC response – If there is evidence of an area with religious tension, this would be considered as the
applicant might be not considered likely to sustain a tenancy in such an area (4.3.5). However, if the
immediate area does not contain a place of worship, that would not itself make the placement
unsuitable unless there were identified transport issues to prevent reasonable travel to a place of
worship.
Could the Policy have a negative impact or put a particular group at a disadvantage on the grounds
of Sex?
Yes (1)
No (3)
Please explain your answer
Only where there could be communal living which should be considered under the suitability criteria
CBC response – the policy is clear (4.3.6) that the Council is required to assess whether
accommodation is suitable for each household individually. This is part of the initial assessment.
Could the Policy have a negative impact or put a particular group at a disadvantage on the grounds
of Sexual orientation?
Yes (1)
No (3)
Please explain your answer
in cases where there could be communal living, Sex offenders would need to be checked with the
police to ensure area is a suitable one.
CBC response – this is undertaken, as part of 4.3.6
Overall what is your view on the draft policy?
It is good and gives an understanding of how people are matched for properties and who that
property is offered to
I feel there are some well needed policy amendments and some which I would consider extra barriers
for the complex clients I currently work with who already struggle with policy and procedures. I
would personally, like to see less private sector tenancies for any person being deemed as vulnerable

Item 13
Page 26
and the categories of meaning in the term vulnerable revisited. I think private sector tenancy offers a
lot less security for our complex individuals who are usually the ones who become street homeless
and then entrenched. I believe if the LA are able to effectively screen need and allocate where
possible appropriate tenancies based on the need identified then the policy changes should not
restrict our vulnerable people.
CBC response – para’s 4.3.5 and 4.3.6 provide some safeguards for some vulnerable groups and a
general requirement to assessment whether accommodation is suitable for each household
individually.
EPC should state grade E and above in line with new legislation. The policy should clarify what
happens if a person wants a review when refusing an offer. What is our stance? Our offer letters say
they have 24 hours to accept the tenancy and move in the new property whilst undertaking a review.
CBC response – the policy will be amended to state grade E and above
We have a Fit and Property Landlord form we send the landlord to complete to confirm they have no
convictions. I have a tenant guide for those renting for the first time with useful links and phone
numbers and budget sheets etc 4.4.4 states that those who have found their own accommodation, this will not be a PSO. The application is to be closed. Some clarity please. Is this a not homeless
decision then? Please also clarify those with a rent deposit offer. If CBC offer a property that we have
found, we would need to do formal PSO offer even though we are offering rent deposit and rent in
advance and suitability check? Do we need to identify areas of risk for vulnerable client groups and
have certain criteria to ensure that their needs have been met under the Equality Act?
CBC response – in the case referred to it is not a homelessness decision. If there were obvious areas
of risk concerning a property that the client had found themselves, then these would be discussed
with the client but there is also an element of choice here and responsibility on the Council is less.
I believe that the policy is sound and brings some welcome changes.

Item 14
Page 1
Central Bedfordshire Council
SOCIAL CARE HEALTH AND HOUSING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
17 September 2018

Work Programme and Executive Forward Plan
Advising Officer:

Paula Everitt, Scrutiny Policy Adviser
Paula.Everitt@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Purpose of this report
The report provides Members with details of the currently drafted Committee
work programme and the latest Executive Forward Plan.
RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is asked to:
1.

Consider and approve the work programme attached, subject to any
further amendments it may wish to make.

2.

Consider the Executive Forward Plan; and

3.

Consider whether it wishes to suggest any further items for the work
programme and/or establish any enquiries to assist it in reviewing
specific items.

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme
1.

Throughout June and July 2016 residents were encouraged to propose
items to be considered by the Council’s overview and scrutiny
committees.

2.

In addition, a workshop took place in June 2016 at which Members and
partners were invited to propose additional items and to indicate the
priorities that they would like to consider throughout 2016/17.

3.

Throughout this process Members have been encouraged to adopt
several key principles relating to ways of working that were previously
agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Co-ordination Panel, namely:



Minimising duplication
Focusing on requested items
Focusing on outcomes and the 5-year plan

Item 14
Page 2
4.

A long-list of items was presented to the OSC at their previous meeting
where Members agreed those items they would like to be added to
further meetings.

5.

This work programme aims to provide a balance of those items on which
the Executive would be grateful for a steer in addition to those items that
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) has proactively requested
to receive.

6.

The Committee is requested to consider the work programme and the
indicated outcomes at appendix 1 and to amend or add to it as
necessary.

Overview and Scrutiny Task Forces
7.

In addition to consideration of the work programme, Members may also
wish to consider how each item will be reviewed, i.e. by the Committee
itself (over one or a number of Committee meetings) or by establishing
a Member Task Force to review an item in greater depth and report back
its findings.

Executive Forward Plan
8.

Listed below are those items relating specifically to this Committee’s
terms of reference contained in the latest version of the Executive
Forward Plan that are not presently included in the Committee’s work
programme. The full Executive Forward Plan can be viewed on the
Council’s website at the link at the end of this report:-

Item
Discharge of Duty to Provide a Suitable Home Policy
The Future of Westlands Older Persons Home – The
Outcome of the Consultation and Procurement
Processes
Repairs Maintenance and Capital Works
The Future of Ampthill Day Centre for Older People
Adult Social Care Business System
Non Key Decisions
Q2 Revenue/Capital/HRA Budget Monitoring
2018/19 Q2 Performance Report
Draft Revenue Budget/Draft Capital/Draft HRA
Final Revenue/Capita/HRA Budget
SCHH Fees and Charges
Capital Strategy 2019/20
2018/19 Q3 Revenue/Capital/HRA Budget Monitoring
2018/19 Q3 Performance Report

Indicative Exec
Meeting date
9 October 2018
9 October 2018
9 October 2018
4 December 2018
4 December 2018
Indicative Exec
Meeting date
4 December 2018
4 December 2018
8 January 2019
5 February 2019
5 February 2019
5 February 2019
2 April 2019
2 April 2019

Item 14
Page 3
Corporate Implications
9.

The work programme of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will
contribute indirectly to all 5 Council priorities. Whilst there are no direct
implications arising from this report the implications of proposals will be
details in full in each report submitted to the Committee.

Conclusion and next Steps
10.

Members are requested to consider and agree the attached work
programme, subject to any further amendment/additions they may wish
to make and highlight those items within it where they may wish to
establish a Task Force to assist the Committee in its work. This will allow
officers to plan accordingly but will not preclude further items being
added during the course of the year if Members so wish and capacity
exists.

Appendix A - OSC work programme
Background Papers
Executive Forward Plan (can be viewed at any time on the Council’s website)
at the following link:http://centralbeds.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=577&RD=0

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A – Social Care Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Monday, 26 November
2018

Update on GP Extended Hours

BCCG update on service that went live on 1
September 2018

Monday, 26 November
2018

Stroke Services

BCCG proposals to make permanent the current
stroke service arrangements

Monday, 26 November
2018

Customer Relations Adult Social Care
Annual Report 2017/18

This report fulfils the statutory duty to produce an
annual report for Adult Social Care and Public
Health (Appendix A). The report provides statistics
on the number of compliments and complaints
received; complaint outcomes (upheld/not upheld);
performance; issues complained about; and
learning and improvements resulting from
complaints for 2017/18.

Monday, 26 November
2018

Bedford Borough and Central
Bedfordshire Annual Safeguarding
Report 2017-2018

To consider and comment on the Bedford Borough
and Central Beds Annual Adult Safeguarding Report.

Monday, 26 November
2018

Executive Update on Enquiry on
Integration of Health and Social Care in
Central Bedfordshire

Six month update on Part I and Part II of the Enquiry

Monday, 26 November
2018

Future of Ampthill Older Persons Day
Centre and the outcomes of the public
consultation

To consider proposals on the future of Ampthill
Older Persons Day Centre in the context of the
Council's new Day offer for Older People and
Vulnerable Adults and consider the outcomes of
the public consultation

Monday 28 January 2019

Phlebotomy Service update

To scrutinise the performance of the Phlebotomy
Service provision at Arndale House and patient
survey.
Item 14
Page 5

Monday, 18 March 2019
Monday, 3 June 2019

This page is intentionally left blank

